· 102 67826-4

NO. 67826-4-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

IN RE: DETENTION OF:

EVERETTE BURD,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Marla L. Zink Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Everette Burd is mildly mentally retarded. His parents had difficulty raising him. Over twenty years ago, when he was thirteen, Mr. Burd trespassed and masturbated to undergarments he found in a neighbor's home. He was denied effective treatment in light of his condition, and his family was ill-equipped to care for him on release. At age twenty he was convicted of attempted rape.

The State's expert at the civil commitment hearing assessed Mr.

Burd without accounting for his cognitive disabilities. He was

diagnosed with several unsubstantiated abnormalities. Despite contrary

evidence from Mr. Burd's expert, the jury determined he should be

committed indefinitely.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- Mr. Burd's indefinite confinement based on the diagnoses of paraphilia NOS (nonconsent) violates his constitutional right to due process.
- Mr. Burd's indefinite confinement based on the diagnoses of antisocial personality disorder violates his constitutional right to due process.

- 3. Mr. Burd received constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel where his attorney failed to request a *Frye* hearing regarding the novel diagnosis of paraphilia NOS (nonconsent).
- 4. Mr. Burd received constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel where his attorney failed to object under ER 702 to the State's expert's unhelpful testimony about antisocial personality disorder.
- The trial court erred in excluding evidence relevant to Mr.
 Burd's defense on hearsay and foundational grounds.
- 6. In the absence of substantial evidence supporting each of the alternative means on which the jury was instructed, the commitment order violates Mr. Burd's constitutional right to a unanimous verdict.
- 7. The trial court erred in failing to provide Mr. Burd's proposed instruction regarding unanimity and alternative means supporting commitment.
- 8. RCW 71.09.020 violates due process because it allows for commitment based on a showing that a defendant will "likely" or "more probably than not" reoffend.
- 9. The prosecutor committed misconduct that denied Mr. Burd a fair trial by appealing to the jury's passions and prejudices, by

inciting the jury reach a decision on improper grounds, and by appealing to racial biases.

C. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

- 1. Due process is violated when an involuntary civil commitment is based upon a diagnosis that is not accepted in the scientific community. Paraphilia NOS (nonconsent) is not included in the American Psychiatric Association's (APA) Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV or DSM-IV-TR) and is not widely accepted in the psychological community. Whether Mr. Burd's civil commitment violates due process where the State's expert's diagnosis of paraphilia NOS (nonconsent) is not medically recognized?
- 2. Whether Mr. Burd's civil commitment violates due process where the State's expert's diagnosis of antisocial personality disorder is overbroad and imprecise?
- 3. Whether trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to request the paraphilia NOS (nonconsent) diagnosis be subject to a *Frye* hearing and to object to the antisocial personality disorder diagnosis under ER 702?

- 4. Whether the trial court committed error that was not harmless when it excluded testimony by Mr. Burd's expert that refuted the validity of the paraphilia NOS (nonconsent) diagnosis?
- 5. A commitment order must be vacated where alternative means for commitment are presented to the jury but at least one of those means is not supported by substantial evidence. Where the jury was instructed that to commit Mr. Burd it must find beyond a reasonable doubt he had a mental abnormality or personality disorder which causes serious difficulty in controlling his sexually violent behavior but substantial evidence did not support the alternative means of mental abnormalities and personality disorders presented to the jury, must the commitment order be vacated?
- 6. In order to satisfy due process in an involuntary commitment proceeding, the State must prove a person is mentally ill and dangerous by at least clear and convincing evidence. Does RCW 71.09.020 violate due process by allowing for the involuntary commitment of a person who is merely "likely" to reoffend, that is, whose risk of reoffense is only "more probable than not?"
- 7. As quasi-judicial officers, prosecutors have the obligation to ensure an accused person receives a constitutionally-required fair and

impartial trial. A prosecutor commits misconduct if he or she acts appeals to the jury's prejudices and passions and encourages a decision on improper grounds. Racial bias is an improper ground. Should Mr. Burd's commitment be reversed where the prosecutor argued to the majority white jury that "[w]hite women satisfy [Mr. Burd's] predator"?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Everette Burd suffers from mild mental retardation, which went largely undiagnosed as a child. *E.g.*, RP 1109. His family had trouble raising Mr. Burd in light of his special condition. RP 313-14; *see* RP 530 (parents beat him as a child). When Mr. Burd was thirteen years old, he was convicted of criminal trespass for entering through a window of a neighbor's home, picking through the underwear drawer of a twelve-year-old girl who resided there, and masturbating on the bed. RP 315; CP 4. A year later (and over twenty years ago), he sexually assaulted a 26-year-old house guest of a neighbor by grabbing her crotch. CP 4-5. Mr. Burd was placed in a residential group home and referred to treatment. RP 307-08, 320.

¹ The transcript from the civil commitment trial is contained in consecutively paginated volumes and is referred to herein simply as RP. The transcript from the probable cause hearing is referred to herein as 7/24/06RP.

In 1997, Mr. Burd pled guilty to attempted rape in the first degree for a sexually-motivated attack on a young woman in a public building. CP 55.²

Prior to his release at the conclusion of his sentence, the State filed a petition to indefinitely involuntarily commit Mr. Burd pursuant to Chapter 71.09 RCW. CP 1. In 2006, the court found probable cause to detain Mr. Burd pending trial, which was stayed while Mr. Burd appealed a related confinement issue. *E.g.*, 7/24/06RP 48; CP 90, 98. The civil commitment trial was eventually held in September 2011.³

At the commitment trial, the State presented testimony from its hired expert, Douglas Tucker. RP 621. Dr. Tucker diagnosed Mr. Burd with four mental abnormalities—paraphilia NOS (ncnconsent), mild mental retardation, fetishism, and schizoaffective disorder—and two personality disorders—antisocial personality disorder and borderline personality disorder. RP 648-51. The State argued the combination of these mental abnormalities and personality disorders rendered Mr. Burd more likely than not to commit a sexually violent

² The parties agreed this conviction satisfied the predicate act element of RCW 71.09.020(18) and 71.09.060. RP 50-51.

³ The trial initially commenced in July 2011 but was continued to September when Mr. Burd was not provided with prescribed medications. RP 154-56.

offense if not committed indefinitely. RP 1438-40, 1442, 1453. As stated in the State's petition, "Dr. Tucker concludes that the diagnosis of Paraphilia (NOS) predispose [sic] Burd to commit sexual crimes and that his lack of volitional capacity is evidenced, in part, by his drive to engage in coercive sexual acts with females, despite their protests and his detection. Moreover, Burd's personality disorders, mild mental retardation, and fetishism further disinhibit his deviant sexual urges, contributing to his dangerousness by reducing his volitional control." CP 5.

Respondent's counsel vigorously cross-examined Dr. Tucker regarding the reliability of his paraphilia NOS (nonconsent) diagnosis. *E.g.*, RP 877-97, 933-36. However, counsel did not request a *Frye* hearing.

Dr. Fabian Saleh found that Mr. Burd is a mildly mentally retarded individual who was unsophisticated and uneducated in his upbringing, which led to maladaptive behaviors. RP 1109, 1120. He did not diagnose Mr. Burd with a paraphilic disorder presently or in the past. RP 1120; see RP 1144 (testifying Burd did not present with anything close to sexual deviancy). The court excluded relevant

portions of Dr. Saleh's testimony refuting the controversial paraphilia NOS (nonconsent) diagnosis. RP 1045-50.

The jury found Mr. Burd to be a sexually violent predator and committed him indefinitely. RP 1491-92; CP 189-91.

E. ARGUMENT

 Mr. Burd's involuntary commitment violates due process because it is premised upon diagnoses that are not accepted by the profession, overbroad, and insufficiently precise.

The diagnosis of paraphilia NOS (nonconsent), invented by a single psychiatrist, explicitly rejected by the APA, and roundly criticized within the profession, lacks medical recognition and due process prohibits its use as a predicate for involuntary commitment.

 a. <u>Due process requires the State prove an involuntary civil</u> commitment is based upon a valid, medically recognized mental disorder.

The state and federal constitutions guarantee the right to due process of law. U.S. Const. amend XIV; Const. art. I, § 3. A person's right to be free from physical restraint "has always been at the core of the liberty protected by the Due Process Clause from arbitrary government action." *Foucha v. Louisiana*, 504 U.S. 71, 80, 112 S. Ct. 1780, 118 L. Ed. 2d 437 (1992). The indefinite commitment of sexually violent predators is a restriction on the fundamental right of

liberty, and consequently, the State may only commit persons who are both currently dangerous and have a mental abnormality. *Id.* at 77; *Kansas v. Hendricks*, 521 U.S. 346, 357-58, 117 S. Ct. 2072, 138 L. Ed. 2d 501 (1997); *In re Det. of Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d 724, 731-32, 72 P.3d 708 (2003). Current mental illness is a constitutional requirement of continued detention. *O'Connor v. Donaldson*, 422 U.S. 563, 574-75, 95 S. Ct. 2486, 45 L. Ed. 2d 396 (1975).

Involuntary civil commitment may not be based on a diagnosis that is either not medically recognized or is too imprecise to distinguish the truly mentally ill from typical recidivists who must be dealt with by criminal prosecution alone. *Foucha*, 504 U.S. 71; *Hendricks*, 521 U.S. 346; *Kansas v. Crane*, 534 U.S. 407, 122 S. Ct. 867, 151 L. Ed. 2d 856 (2002). If a supposedly dangerous person with a personality disorder "commit[s] criminal acts," then "the State [should] vindicate [its interests through] the ordinary criminal processes . . . , the use of enhanced sentences for recidivists, and other permissible ways of dealing with patterns of criminal conduct"—that is, "the normal means of dealing with persistent criminal conduct." *Foucha*, 504 U.S. at 82; *accord id.* at 88 (O'Connor, J., concurring in part and concurring in the

judgment) (It is "clear that acquittees could not be confined as mental patients absent some medical justification for doing so.").

"Dangerousness, standing alone, is ordinarily not a sufficient ground upon which to justify indefinite involuntary commitment."

Hendricks, 521 U.S. at 358. "Proof of dangerousness [must be coupled] with the proof of some additional factor, such as a 'mental illness' or 'mental abnormality." *Id.* (affirming commitment where "diagnosis as a pedophile . . . suffice[d] for due process purposes" and, admitted inability to control his pedophilic urges "adequately distinguishe[d] [respondent] from other dangerous persons who are perhaps more properly dealt with exclusively through criminal proceedings").⁴

Most recently, the Court reemphasized that an individual cannot be involuntarily committed unless he suffers from a mental abnormality "sufficient to distinguish . . . him . . . from the dangerous but typical

⁴ Justice Kennedy, who provided the fifth vote in support of the majority opinion in *Hendricks*, emphasized that Hendricks' "mental abnormality—pedophilia—is at least described in the DSM-IV." 521 U.S. at 372 (Kennedy, J., concurring). He therefore concluded that, "[o]n the record before [the Court], [Hendricks' commitment] conform[ed] to [the Court's] precedents." *Id.* at 373. He continued, "however, . . . [that] if it were shown that mental abnormality," as defined by state law, "is too imprecise a category to offer a solid basis for concluding that civil detention is justified, our precedents would not suffice to validate it." *Id.*

recidivist convicted in an ordinary criminal case." *Crane*, 534 U.S. at 413.

The Washington Supreme Court similarly recognizes that in sexually violent predator proceedings, due process requires the State to prove the detainee has a serious, diagnosed mental disorder that causes him difficulty controlling his sexually violent behavior. *Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d at 736, 740-41. "Lack of control" requires proof "'sufficient to distinguish the dangerous sexual offender whose serious mental illness, abnormality, or disorder subjects him [or her] to civil commitment from the dangerous but typical recidivist convicted in an ordinary criminal case." *Id.* at 723 (quoting *Crane*, 534 U.S. at 413). Expert testimony is essential to tie a lack of control to a diagnosed mental abnormality or personality disorder. *Id.* at 740-41. This proof must rise to the level of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* at 744.

Although states have considerable leeway to define when a mental abnormality or personality disorder makes an individual eligible for commitment as a sexually violent person, *see Crane*, 534 U.S. at 413, the diagnosis must nonetheless be medically justified. *See Hendricks*, 521 U.S. at 358 (explaining that states must prove not only dangerousness but also mental illness in order to "limit involuntary"

civil confinement to those who suffer from a volitional impairment rendering them dangerous beyond their control"); *Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d at 732, 740-41 (explaining that State must present expert testimony and proof beyond a reasonable doubt that offender has serious, diagnosed mental illness that causes him difficulty controlling his behavior).

b. Mr. Burd's commitment based on a diagnosis of paraphilia NOS (nonconsent) violates due process because it is an invalid diagnosis not accepted by the profession.

The State expert's diagnosis of paraphilia NOS (nonconsent) is invalid, and its use as predicate for Mr. Burd's involuntary civil commitment therefore violates due process.

The Supreme Court has upheld involuntary civil commitment only in cases in which the diagnosed disorder was one that "the psychiatric profession itself classifies as a serious mental disorder." Hendricks, 521 U.S. at 360; id. at 372 (Kennedy, J., concurring); id. at 375 (Breyer, J., dissenting); Crane, 534 U.S. at 410, 412.

The disorder referred to by Dr. Tucker as paraphilia NOS (nonconsent) fails the Supreme Court's "medical recognition" or "medical justification" test, because it is not recognized by either the psychiatric profession in general, or the APA or the DSM-IV-TR in particular. Put simply, it is a wholly unreliable and invalid diagnosis

that fails to distinguish Mr. Burd from any "dangerous but typical recidivist" who cannot be civilly committed under the Due Process Clause. *Crane*, 534 U.S. at 413.

The diagnosis of paraphilia NOS (nonconsent) was essentially invented by Dr. Dennis Doren, a Wisconsin psychologist who is the evaluation director for Wisconsin's SVP commitment program. See Dennis Doren, Evaluating Sex Offenders: A Manual For Civil Commitments and Beyond (2002). Doren has acknowledged, though, that the DSM has "no separately listed paraphilia of this type." Id. at 63; accord RP 654.

Every category of diagnosis in the DSM-IV-TR contains an "NOS" diagnosis. The DSM-IV-TR, in explaining the purpose of "NOS" diagnoses, states "[n]o classification of mental disorders can have a sufficient number of specific categories to encompass every conceivable clinical presentation. The Not Otherwise Specified categories are provided to cover the not infrequent presentations that are at the boundary of specific categorical definitions." DSM-IV-TR at 576. Thus the DSM-IV-TR does recognize a general diagnosis of "Paraphilia Not Otherwise Specified." American Psychiatric Association, The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental

Disorders, IV-Text Revision 576 (4th ed.-text rev. 2000) ("DSM-IV-TR"). This category provides a code for paraphilias that do not meet the criteria for any of the specific categories; the "specific categories" include, for example, pedophilia, exhibitionism, and sexual sadism. *See id.* at 566-75. The DSM-IV-TR explains that examples of paraphilia NOS "include, but are not limited to, telephone scatologia (obscene phone calls), necrophilia (corpses), partialism (exclusive focus on part of body), zoophilia (animals), coprophilia (feces), klismaphilia (enemas), and urophilia (urine)." *Id.* at 576.

By its terms, this diagnosis "is not limited to" the variants specifically listed. However, it would be hard to imagine that the DSM-IV-TR would list such "relatively rare" and "inherently nonviolent" disorders, such as urophilia, while omitting a valid diagnosis of nonconsent, which would be "more common and certainly more socially problematic" than the disorders specifically identified. Thomas K. Zander, *Civil Commitment Without Psychosis: The Law's Reliance on the Weakest Links in Psychodiagnosis*, 1 Journal of Sexual Offender Civil Commitment: Science and the Law 17, 43 (2005), available at http://www.soccjournal.org; see also, e.g., Marilyn Price, et al., Redefining Telephone Scatologia: Comorbidity and Theories of

Etiology, 31 Psychiatric Annals 226, 226 (2001) (describing the paraphilia NOS category as "reserved for sexual disorders that are either so uncommon or have been so inadequately described in the literature that a separate category is not warranted"). The logical inference is that the modifier (and diagnosis) "nonconsent" was deliberately omitted.

This inference is supported by the treatment of non-consensual sexual conduct in other sections of the DSM-IV-TR. For example, sexual abuse of a child is mentioned in the section of the DSM that covers "other conditions or problems" that may merit "clinical attention" but are not independently diagnosable mental disorders. *See* DSM-IV-TR at 731, 738-39; Zander, *Civil Commitment Without Psychosis*, *supra*, at 43-44.

Further, the APA trustees have rejected the diagnosis, in part because of the preliminary nature of the data and the difficulty physicians have in differentiating the disorder from other disorders.

Zander, *Civil Commitment Without Psychosis*, *supra* at 46 (2005); *see*RP 877-78 (Tucker acknowledges APA rejected diagnosis); 7/24/06RP

20-21 (testimony of Tucker that no explicit criteria to diagnose paraphilia NOS (nonconsent) exists that would be agreed on by all

clinicians); RP 1188-98 (testimony of Saleh that diagnosis unreliable and rejected by APA as well as others). A subsequent APA task force similarly concluded, "[t]he ability to make such a diagnosis with a sufficient degree of validity and reliability remains problematic." Howard V. Zonna, et al., *Dangerous Sex Offenders: A Task Force Report of the American Psychiatric Association*, 170 (1990).

In addition to the APA's rejection of the diagnosis of paraphilia NOS (nonconsent), a number of professionals and commentators in the field continue to conclude that it is invalid and diagnostically unreliable. See e.g., RP 877 (Tucker conceding paraphilia NOS (nonconsent) diagnosis "is more controversial than most [diagnoses]"); id. at 879-80, 895-97; Richard Wollert, Poor Diagnostic Reliability, the Null-Bayes Logic Model, And Their Implications For Sexually Violent Predator Evaluations, 13 Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 167, 185 (2007) (concluding, based on analysis of results of independent evaluations in 295 SVP cases, that "psychologists who undertake [SVP] evaluations should no longer diagnose any [individual] as suffering from [Paraphilia NOS (nonconsent)]" because the diagnosis is "so unreliable . . . that it is impossible to attain a reasonable degree of certainty as to [its] presence" and therefore its "only function" is to

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