67826-4

67826.4

No. 67826-4-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

In re the Detention of EVERETTE BURD

## STATE'S RESPONSE BRIEF

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

David J. Hackett Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

W554 King County Courthouse Seattle, Washington 98104 (206)205-0580

##

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

## III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Burd was born on October 12, 1975 in the Seattle area. CP 8. He was placed in special education classes at an early age due to his mild mental retardation. RP 1215-16. Throughout his youth, his parents had great difficulty managing his violent behavior. CP 14. Throughout adulthood, he has not maintained steady employment or married. CP 15.

On August 27, 1996, Burd (20 years old at the time), sexually assaulted a 17 year old stranger, D.B. at the Highland Community Church. RP 660. D.B. went inside the church to use the restroom. *Id.* She briefly encountered Burd outside the restroom. *Id.* While using the bathroom stall, she heard another stall door open and noticed men's shoes. *Id.* She quickly zipped her pants and ran for the door. *Id.* Burd grabbed her by the crotch, placed her in a choke hold, and drug her into another room. RP 661. He forced her to the floor and tore off her shirt and bra, squeezed her breasts, and placed his hands down her pants, repeating "come on baby, want to fuck." RP 660-61. D.B. screamed loud enough that another female, P.T, who was inside the church, heard her cry for help. RP 661. P.T. saw Burd on top of D.B. and pulled him off, telling D.B. to run for help. *Id.* 

Burd was arrested at the church and confessed to portions of the assault. RP 434. He pled guilty to Attempted Rape in the First Degree. CP 10. He received a 90 month sentence. *Id*.

Over the years, Burd has engaged in other sexually motivated behaviors and offenses. CP 16-17. He also has a history of non-sexual offenses, including Theft (age 15), Malicious Mischief (age 16), Assault in the Fourth Degree (age 17), and five convictions for Custodial Assault. RP 395-98, 378, 707-08. His most recent conviction Custodial Assault conviction was in 2002 and ran consecutive to the Attempted Rape. CP 3.

In 1991, at the age of 15, Burd sexually assaulted a 26 year old woman, S.G., who was a neighbor's houseguest. RP 656. Burd opened the front door, uninvited, and S.B confronted him and told him to leave. RP 435. Burd pushed S.G. to the floor and grabbed her crotch. S.G. managed to escape through the front door and called the police from another neighbor's home. RP 656. Several days earlier Burd had broken into the same home and rummaged through the bedroom dresser drawers, handling her undergarments. *Id*.

Burd was ultimately adjudicated for the crimes of Burglary in the First Degree, Indecent Liberties, and Criminal Trespass. RP 435, CP 11. Burd was sentenced to serve 168 weeks. CP 11. He was out pending appeal and, after violating his conditions of release, including sexual deviancy requirements, he was placed at Maple Lane School. RP 657.

While serving time at Maple Lane, Burd pinched a staff member, S.B., on her buttocks, then grabbed her arm as she attempted to run from

him. *Id.* Burd was convicted of Assault in the Fourth Degree. CP 11. He was 18 at the time. RP 657.

In 1989, at age 14, Burd unlawfully entered into a neighbor's home and rummaged through their 12-year-old daughter's bedroom, handling her undergarments and masturbating. RP 664. Burd was convicted of Criminal Trespass in the First Degree. RP 742.

During Burd's teenage years, he also made over \$8000 worth of phone calls to 800 sex hotline numbers. RP 681.

Since his incarceration in 1997, Burd has received over 100 serious infractions, ranging from assaults on staff and inmates to throwing objects. RP 707-08. He also received infractions for Indecent Exposure and Sexual Harassment of Staff. *Id.* At the Special Commitment Center, he continued to expose himself and frequently attempted to have sexual contact with other inmates in violation of facility rules. RP 673.

In connection with his juvenile behaviors, Burd attempted sexual deviancy treatment between 1992 and 1994, but was disruptive and had to be taken out of group because of his escalating threats of violence. RP 335. During treatment, he continued to exhibit deviant behavior. RP 323 - 24, 330-34.

In 1997, DOC found him non-amendable to treatment due to his refusal to accept that his attempted Rape of D.B. was sexual, as well as his

ongoing sexually related threats to staff and inmates. RP 670, CP 21.

Burd was admitted to the Special Commitment Center in 2006, but refused treatment until 2009. RP 675, 977-78. During his brief treatment at SCC, he was unable to grasp the most basic treatment concepts. RP 674-75. Burd admitted to his therapist that he had active rape fantasies and substantial masturbation to those fantasies. RP 675.

At trial, the State presented the testimony of the Joint Forensic Unit expert, Dr. Douglas Tucker. RP 621. Dr. Tucker is a licensed psychiatrist with substantial qualifications to evaluate sex offenders. RP 621-628. He is a member of the Joint Forensic Unit. RP 63 -32.

Dr. Tucker opined to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that Burd suffers from the following: Paraphilia (Not Otherwise Specified), Fetishism, Schizoaffective disorder, Depressive Type, Mild Mental Retardation, Antisocial Personality Disorder, and Borderline Personality Disorder. RP 650-651. He testified that these diagnosis combined to fit the form a statutory "mental abnormality." RP 650. RP 718-19.

Dr. Testified that Burd's mental abnormality causes him serious difficulty controlling his behavior. RP 723 -24. Burd's lack of volitional capacity is evidenced, in part, by his drive to engage in coercive sexual acts with females, despite their protests and his detection. Dr. Tucker was particularly concerned with Burd's escalating pattern of sexual deviancy.

RP 668. Dr. Tucker noted Burd's "pathologically elevated level of sexual preoccupation and drive and behavior." RP 674.

Dr. Tucker further opines to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that Burd is more likely than not to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined to a secure facility. RP 725, 787. In assessing Burd's risk, Dr. Tucker utilized actuarial measures, considered other static risk factors and dynamic risk factors. RP 784-87.

## IV. BOTH PARAPHILIA NOS AND ANTISOCIAL PERSONALITY DISORDER SATISFIES FRYE AND SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS

Burd claims that the Paraphilia NOS and Antisocial Personality

Disorder violate due process and requires a *Frye* hearing. These arguments
were rejected by the Supreme Court in the seminal case of *In re Young*, 122

Wn.2d 1 (1993) and by all subsequent appellate decisions. Most recently,
this court rejected the arguments raised by Burd in *In re Det. of Berry*, 160

Wn.App. 374, 248 P.3d 592, *review denied*, 172 Wn.2d 1005 (2011). As
such, the trial court should be affirmed.

## A. BURD HAS FAILED TO PRESERVE HIS FRYE CHALLENGE

The court should decline to review this issue because Burd failed to preserve error by requesting a *Frye* hearing. Opening Brief at 7. Under RAP 2.5, an "appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error

which was not raised in the trial court." In general, "an issue not briefed or argued in the trial court will not be considered on appeal." *Brower v. Ackerley*, 88 Wn.App. 87, 96, 943 P.2d 1141 (1997). A litigant cannot remain silent as to claimed error during trial and later, for the first time, urge objections thereto on appeal. *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wash.2d 412, 421, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985), *cert. denied*, 475 U.S. 1020, 106 S. Ct 1208, 89 L. Ed. 2d 321 (1986).

In proceedings below, Burd did not request a *Frye* hearing. The record is simply devoid of any timely objections to the diagnostic testimony based on a *Frye* theory.

Absent an objection, Burd cannot raise his claimed *Frye* error for the first time on appeal. The Washington Supreme Court recently applied the preservation of error doctrine to sexually violent predator cases because, among other reasons:

[O]pposing parties should have an opportunity at trial to respond to possible claims of error, and to shape their cases to issues and theories, at the trial level, rather than facing newly-asserted errors or new theories and issues for the first time on appeal.

In re the Detention of Audett, 158 Wash.2d 712, 725, 147 P.3d 982 (2006) (citing 2A Karl B. Teglund, Washington Practice: Rules Practice RAP 2.5(1), at 192 (6th ed. 2004).

In In re Post, 145 Wash.App. 728, 755-756, 187 P.3d 803 (2008),

this court held that the appellant had failed to preserve error by not requesting a *Frye* hearing or objecting under ER 702 in response to admission of testimony on Paraphilia NOS Rape/Nonconsent. The court found that Mr. Post's failure to preserve error was not cured by the effort to frame the evidentiary issue in due process terms:

Post rests his substantive due process argument on his contention that the evidence he now challenges "fails to satisfy fundamental principles of sound science." Br. of Appellant at 54. By doing so, Post improperly attempts to transform that which should have been raised as an evidentiary challenge in the trial court into a question of constitutional significance on appeal. In point of fact, Post attempts to sidestep the fact that he did not seek a *Frye* hearing in the trial court, and, thus, has not preserved an evidentiary challenge for review. *In re Det. of Taylor*, 132 Wash.App. 827, 836, 134 P.3d 254 (2006), *rev. denied*, 159 Wash.2d 1006, 153 P.3d 196 (2007).

## Id. (footnotes omitted).

In State v. Florczak, 76 Wash.App. 55, 72-73, 882 P.2d 199, 209 (1994), this court similarly ruled that a Frye challenge cannot be raised for the first time on appeal and that it was necessary to preserve the claim of error with a proper objection. An evidentiary matter could be raised for the first time on appeal only if it was a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." Id. The failure to request a Frye hearing falls outside the "manifest error" doctrine, and thus will not be reviewed on appeal absent preservation of error below:

Failure to object to the admissibility of evidence at trial precludes

appellate review of that issue unless the alleged error involves manifest error affecting a constitutional right. State v. Lynn, 67 Wash. App. 339, 342, 835 P.2d 251 (1992); State v. Stevens, 58 Wash. App. 478, 485-86, 794 P.2d 38, review denied, 115 Wash.2d 1025, 802 P.2d 128 (1990). Such error is not created by the failure to lay an adequate foundation under Frye, For example, in State v. Jones, 71 Wash.App. 798, 820, 863 P.2d 85 (1993), the court concluded that the admission of a CPS caseworker's testimony was improper because it included "generalized assertions about common behaviors of sexually abused children" and thus exceeded the limits of the caseworker's personal experience. However, because the defendant failed to specifically object to an inadequate foundation under Frve for the caseworker's testimony, the issue was not preserved for review. 71 Wash.App. at 821, 863 P.2d 85. Terrell similarly failed to preserve for review any challenge to Wilson's expert status or to the foundation for her testimony regarding posttraumatic stress syndrome. FN11

Id. Accord State v. Russell 141 Wash.App. 733, 742, 172 P.3d361 (2007) (failure to object to a foundation under Frye is not a manifest constitutional error that allows consideration for the first time on appeal).

The failure to preserve the *Frye* issue raised by appellate counsel cannot be overcome by claiming ineffective assistance of counsel on the trial level. The petitioner has the burden of establishing ineffective assistance of counsel. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 682, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel the petitioner must meet both prongs of a two-part standard:

(1) counsel's representation was deficient, meaning it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness based on consideration of all the circumstances; and (2) that he was prejudiced, meaning there is a reasonable probability that

the result of the proceeding would have been different. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687; *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).

Burd has failed in his burden to demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel. He has not overcome the presumption that counsel acted effectively, nor has he provided the record necessary to prove ineffective assistance of counsel:

Courts engage in a strong presumption counsel's representation was effective. State v. Brett, 126 Wash.2d 136, 198, 892 P.2d 29 (1995); Thomas, 109 Wash.2d at 226, 743 P.2d 816. Where, as here, the claim is brought on direct appeal, the reviewing court will not consider matters outside the trial record. State v. Crane, 116 Wash.2d 315, 335, 804 P.2d 10, cert. denied, 501 U.S. 1237, 111 S.Ct. 2867, 115 L.Ed.2d 1033 (1991); State v. Blight, 89 Wash.2d 38, 45-46, 569 P.2d 1129 (1977). Accord State v. Stockton, 97 Wash.2d 528, 530, 647 P.2d 21 (1982) (matters referred to in the brief but not included in the record cannot be considered on appeal). The burden is on a defendant alleging ineffective assistance of counsel to show deficient representation based on the record established in the proceedings below.

State v. McFarland, 127 Wash.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251, 1256 - 1259 (1995).

Indeed, given the plethora of case law allowing admission of
Antisocial Personality Disorder and Paraphilia NOS to support civil
commitment, *see below*, it is likely that defense counsel made the strategic
choice not to wage this battle and to retain his credibility for other matters.

Defense counsel might also have had legitimate strategic purpose in using
the materials described in Burd's appeal to cross-examine the State's

expert on diagnostic issues. If the jury found that the State's expert was relying on a questionable diagnosis, the jury might find against the State's position. "If trial counsel's conduct can be characterized as legitimate trial strategy or <u>tactics</u>, it cannot serve as a basis for a claim that the defendant received <u>ineffective assistance</u> of counsel." *State v. McNeal*, 145 Wn.2d 352, 362, 37 P.3d 280 (2002).

Such strategic decisions by defense counsel are entirely possible in this case. The more important point is that Burd has failed to satisfy his burden of demonstrating ineffective assistance of counsel by demonstrating that defense counsel did not act for reasonable strategic purposes. In the absence of such a record, Burd cannot prevail on this claim. See McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 322 (noting appellant's burden to provide record materials supporting an ineffective assistance of counsel claim). "The presumption of effective representation can be overcome only by a showing of deficient representation based on the record established in the proceedings below." Id. at 36.

## B. THE TRIAL COURT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO HOLD A FRYE PROCEEDING

The Washington Supreme Court has addressed the admissibility of psychological testimony in RCW 71.09 proceedings through a number of opinions, including *In re Young*, 122 Wn.2d 1, 56 (1993); *In re Campbell*,

139 Wn.2d 341, 356-58 (1999), *In re Thorell*, 149 Wash.2d 724, 756, 72 P.3d 708, 725 (2003), and *In re Halgren*, 156 Wash.2d 795, 806, 132 P.3d 714, 719 (2006). No Washington appellate court has ever excluded psychological testimony on diagnosis in a sexually violent predator matter. Instead, it is widely held that the types of issues raised by Burd "go to weight and not admissibility."

In setting out the "Frye test," Burd misses the important precondition that Frye applies to scientific testimony only when the science is "novel." As the Supreme Court explained in Halgren:

The Frye test allows a court to admit novel scientific evidence only if the evidence is generally accepted in the relevant scientific community. State v. Copeland, 130 Wash.2d 244, 255, 922 P.2d 1304 (1996). However, the Frye test is unnecessary if the evidence does not involve new methods of proof or new scientific principles. State v. Baity, 140 Wash.2d 1, 10-11, 991 P.2d 1151 (2000); State v. Ortiz, 119 Wash.2d 294, 311, 831 P.2d 1060 (1992).

156 Wash.2d at 806 (emphasis added).

As noted in *In re Young*, the *Frye* inquiry applies only to "evidence based on *novel* scientific procedures." 122 Wn.2d at 56 (emphasis added). There is no basis under the *Frye* test to exclude testimony of Anti-Social Personality Disorder or Paraphilia NOS Rape/Nonconsent in a sexually violent predator proceeding because this testimony is not "novel." Even if "novel," the courts have routinely found such testimony admissible to prove a "personality disorder" or "mental abnormality" under RCW

71.09.020, .060.

## C. THE PARAPHILIA NOS DIAGNOSIS IS ADMISSIBLE

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